

AYAHUASCA GUIDE



Written by:

Lynn-Marie Morski, MD, JD
Unlimited Sciences

and

Matthew X. Lowe, Ph.D. Unlimited Sciences

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $1\ {
m of}\ 35$

DISCLAIMER

By accessing or downloading our educational guides, you acknowledge that the information contained in these guides is for educational and informational purposes only. This information should not be construed as medical or legal advice, and we are not advocating the use of any substances. A licensed healthcare professional should be consulted before making any changes to your healthcare.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $2\ {\rm of}\ 35$

^{© 2024} Unlimited Sciences. All rights reserved. No part of this educational guide may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of Unlimited Sciences, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law. For permission requests, please contact Unlimited Sciences at support@unlimitedsciences.org.

Table of Contents

What is ayahuasca?	5
What does the word ayahuasca mean?	
How old is the use of ayahuasca?	
What is ayahuasca used for?	
How Ayahuasca works in the body	
Ayahuasca's Effects	
Subjective Effects	
Pharmacological Mechanisms of ActionWhat to expect from visions induced by ayahuasca	
How long does ayahuasca last?	
Origins & Traditional Use	
Ayahuasca in the 20 th Century	9
Ayahuasca's Cultural Role	9
In Indigenous communities	
Religious use	10
Dosage	11
Current ayahuasca use for personal growth	11
Ethical considerations regarding Ayahuasca use	12
Chemical Composition of Ayahuasca	13
What is N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT)?	13
Mechanisms of action in the body and brain	14
Effects on consciousness and subjective experiences	15
Preparation and Consumption	15
Overview of existing scientific research on ayahuasca	19
Depression	19
SuicidalityTrauma	
Grief	
Addiction and substance use	
Neurodegenerative diseases	20
Ayahuasca effects in unique and minority populations	
Inflammation	21
Potential risks and adverse effects of ayahuasca	
Precautions and guidelines for safe ayahuasca use	
Contraindications and medication interactions	
Integration	23
Overview of Ayahuasca's Legality	
The international legal landscape	24

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $3\ {\rm of}\ 35$

Legal status in specific countries and regions	25
Legal challenges and controversies surrounding ayahuasca	
Frequently Asked Questions:	25
Q: Is Ayahuasca Safe? What are the main health risks?	25
Q: Will I vomit on Ayahuasca?	
Q: Where can one find reputable Ayahuasca ceremonies or retreats?	
Q: What does a traditional ayahuasca ceremony involve?	26
Q: What should someone expect after participating in an ayahuasca ceremony?	
Q: What are some common substances to avoid while preparing to consume ayahuasca?	
Q: Can I drink ayahuasca if I'm taking prescription medication?	
Q: What is a typical dose?	
€	

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $4\ {
m of}\ 35$

What is ayahuasca?

What does the word ayahuasca mean?

Ayahuasca is a psychoactive brew prepared by boiling the stems of the *Banisteriopsis caapi* vine with the leaves of the *Psychotria viridis* or *Diplopterys cabrerana* plant and other botanical matter native to the Amazon basin. Ayahuasca has been utilized by Upper Amazonian tribes for centuries as sacred medicine owing to its ability to produce altered states of consciousness. This psychedelic brew has many names, including *ayahuasca* in Peru, *yagé* in Colombia and Ecuador, and *caapi* in Brazil. Ayahuasca is also referred to as "honi zuma," in Colombia, and among the Caxinaua Indians (Peru, Brazil), it goes by the name "honi," In Ecuador, particularly within the Achuar and Shuar ethnic groups, the term "natem" is often used. The Portuguese transcription of ayahuasca is recognized as "hoasca" (or "oasca"), a name also acknowledged in Brazil.¹

Renowned anthropologist Luis Eduardo Luna recorded over 70 different indigenous names for these preparations,² but the most commonly known word to describe this brew, ayahuasca, translates to "vine of the soul", and is derived from the Quechualanguage roots, aya, meaning death, dead person, spirit, soul, or ancestor, and huasca, meaning rope or vine. The name ayahuasca therefore denotes the brew's perceived supernatural soul-transporting virtues that have garnered deep cultural significance across dozens of ethnic groups like the ancient Inca.³

How old is the use of ayahuasca?

Anthropological reports estimate ayahuasca has been used by indigenous communities for over 5,000 years, with direct evidence dating back at least 1,000 years.⁴

What is ayahuasca used for?

To many who participate in ayahuasca ceremonies, ayahuasca is considered to be an entheogenic and inspirited plant being with animacy and agency, seen as a being with its own spirit and ability to create and connect with others. Along the same vein, many cultures consider the world to be inhabited by anthropomorphic spirits, and these cultures believe ayahuasca facilitates communication with these spirits.⁵

Today, ayahuasca is a traditional medicine used by approximately **one hundred indigenous groups across the Amazon Basin**, including those dispersed in Colombia,

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 5 of 35

Ecuador, Peru, Bolivia, Brazil, and Venezuela. Ayahuasca has remained a central part of indigenous culture and is used in medicine, religious ceremonies, and rites of passage.⁶

How Ayahuasca works in the body

Scientific study attributes ayahuasca's mind-altering properties primarily to the presence of the potent serotonergic psychedelic N,N-Dimethyltryptamine (DMT) in tandem with β -carboline alkaloids called monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAO-inhibitors) that render the DMT orally bioavailable when consumed as Ayahuasca tea. The MAOIs allow DMT to reach the brain by preventing it from being broken down before crossing the blood-brain barrier, enabling intense visions, psychedelia, and mystical states. 7

Ayahuasca's Effects

Ayahuasca has long been revered by Native Americans as the most potent medicinal plant on the planet. They credit the concoction derived from this "magical" liana with the power to instruct and heal individuals, with some suggesting it facilitates a connection with the universe and spiritual entities. In recent years, the utilization of ayahuasca has transcended South America, reaching Europe, the United States, and beyond, prompting diverse biomedical investigations. While these studies offer optimism regarding its therapeutic capabilities, they also raise apprehensions about potential toxicity.⁸

Subjective Effects

The consumption of ayahuasca is associated with a variety of subjective effects, including visual hallucinations, altered sensory perception, mystical experiences, and euphoria. Ingestion of ayahuasca may also give rise to experiences of purging, both physical (e.g., vomiting, diarrhea) and emotional (e.g., therapeutic release of emotions). Although different indigenous groups have developed complex variations of ayahuasca to modify or potentiate the effects of ayahuasca, infusing up to 90 different plants into the brew, the most commonly used variations combine the roots of the *B. caapi* with the leaves of *P. viridis* or *D. cabrerana*.9

Pharmacological Mechanisms of Action

Ayahuasca is unique in its pharmacological activity, which is dependent on a synergistic interaction between active alkaloids in both plants, a currently well-known mechanism in which the monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibitory action of harmala alkaloids allow the

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 6 of 35

hallucinogenic effects of metabolically labile DMT. 10 The main compounds of the preparation are β -carboline alkaloids (harmala alkaloids-harmine, harmaline and tetrahydroharmine) and N, N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT). Pharmacologically, DMT binds and modulates serotonergic receptors throughout the central and peripheral nervous systems, triggering widespread entheogenic and psychotropic changes perceptually once ingested. Subjective experiential dimensions of onset involve physical purging or vomiting before dynamic visions begin, followed by otherworldly scenes perceived as staggeringly sentient yet fantastical, rich in elaborate detail yet undeniably supernatural. 11

What to expect from visions induced by ayahuasca

Phenomenologically, visions display alternately or concomitantly aqueous, botanical, zoological, and architectural motifs in heightened symbolic expressionistic fashion. Visions unfold with subconscious depths of self-insight, environmental interconnectedness, cosmic revelation, numinous mysticism, and sacredness universally described by indigenous groups variously as divinely transcendental, depending on tribal cosmologies. Psychopharmacology suggests ayahuasca's subjective effects derive significantly from DMT binding serotonin transporters and sigma-1 receptors, augmenting synaptic plasticity by heightening neurogenesis.¹²

Experiential dimensions include a perceivable prolongation of time, confrontation with personal issues, cathartic release of emotions, and renewed mindfulness towards relationships or constructive life changes after the acute effects subside. ¹³ By bridging normal cognitive constraints, ayahuasca permits a temporary interconnectedness that lends perspective for addressing challenges confronted or changes sought once sobriety returns.

How long does ayahuasca last?

The effects of ayahuasca generally appear around 40 minutes after ingestion, peak at 1-2 hours following ingestion, and then fade after approximately 4 - 6 hours. ¹⁴ In a study by Callaway, the enlargement of the pupil diameter started after 40 min and persisted even after 6 hours. ¹⁵ The cardiovascular effect of ayahuasca consisted in an increase of heart rate (maximum after 20 min) and increase of blood pressure (maximum after 40 min), which then decreased to normal values. The neuroendocrine effect of ayahuasca was found in a significant increase of growth hormone, prolactin and cortisol, to their peak plasma concentrations occurring between 1–2 h after ingestion.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $7\ {
m of}\ 35$

Origins & Traditional Use

The origins of ayahuasca can be traced back to the Amazon rainforest, where indigenous tribes such as the Quechua, Shipibo, ¹⁶ and Asháninka¹⁷ have used this powerful plant medicine for centuries in their religious and healing practices. ¹⁸ The traditional use of ayahuasca is deeply rooted in the spiritual and shamanic traditions of these tribes, who believe that the brew allows them to connect with the spirit world, gain insights, and heal both physical and mental ailments.

The preparation and consumption of ayahuasca is surrounded by ritual and ceremony, with experienced shamans guiding the process. The brew is typically made by combining the bark of *Banisteriopsis caapi* with leaves from *Psychotria viridis*. The specific ingredients and methods of preparation vary among different indigenous tribes, each with its own unique traditions and practices. ¹⁹ **More than 100 different plants can serve as sources of \beta-carbolines and DMT**, which are the active alkaloids of this decoction, and therefore it is important to know the most accurate composition of the decoction, especially when studying the pharmacology of this plant. ²⁰ For example, *Banisteriopsis caapi*, *Brugmansia suaveolens*, and *Nicotiana tabacum* are the principal hallucinogens used by the Shuar and related ethnic groups in Amazonian Ecuador and Peru. ²¹ The 4 most used plants for the preparation of ayahuasca decoction include *P. viridis*, *B. caapi*, *M. hostilis*, and *P. harmala*. ²²

The use of ayahuasca is considered a sacred and deeply spiritual practice among these indigenous communities, and it is often used for purposes such as healing, divination, and spiritual growth. The traditional understanding of ayahuasca is grounded in the interconnectedness of all living beings and the belief that plant medicine has the power to bring about profound healing and transformation.²³ The consumption of ayahuasca is often done in ceremonial settings, with participants sitting in a circle and drinking the brew under the guidance of a shaman or ayahuasquero/ayahuascquera, who leads the ceremony and facilitates the spiritual journey.

Concomitant ritual musical performances like ceremonial "icaros" chanting by maestro/maestra shamans invariably guide participants' profound vision quests during ayahuasca's acute psychoactive phase seeking overall collective spiritual catharsis for entire tribes practicing this spiritual sacrament since pre-Columbian antiquity by melding native jungle botanicals with metaphysical beliefs—a syncretic practice Andean & coastal tribes still honor today through community-binding ceremonies.²⁴

Ayahuasca in the 20th Century

Since the 1930s, beyond its traditional shamanic use, ayahuasca has found a place in syncretic religious movements that emerged in Brazil. The first of these was established by R.I. Serra, who, after acquiring knowledge of ayahuasca from indigenous communities during his jungle sojourn, returned to civilization and founded the Santo Daime religion, marking a fusion of Christian beliefs with alternative healing and shamanic practices. In 1945, Barquinha separated from Santo Daime, giving rise to the União do Vegetal (UDV), a Brazilian-origin religious society, in 1961. Following R.I. Serra's death in 1971, Santo Daime experienced factional divisions.²⁵

During the 1980s, syncretistic religions gained prominence in Brazil, extending their influence abroad to countries like the Netherlands, the USA, and others.²⁶ The phenomenon of "ayahuasca tourism" emerged at the close of the twentieth century, signifying the globalization of ayahuasca and its adoption across Asia.^{27 28} This development has spurred debates about the legal status of N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT), a controlled substance in many countries, making its production, purchase, possession, and distribution illegal.²⁹ Notably, the psychoactive effects of ayahuasca hinge on a specific combination of its primary plant components, a discovery made independently of modern scientific research.

Ayahuasca's Cultural Role

In Indigenous communities

- Indigenous communities have been using ayahuasca for centuries as a tool for spiritual and healing practices. Indigenous healers, known as shamans, ayahuasqueros/ayahuasqueras, or curanderos, 30 play a crucial role in administering ayahuasca ceremonies and guiding individuals through their transformative journeys.
- In addition to its significance in spiritual and healing practices, ayahuasca also plays a central role in the social and cultural fabric of indigenous communities.³¹ The brew often serves as a means of cultural preservation and transmission of traditional knowledge, as it is involved in communal rituals and ceremonies that reinforce the collective identity and values of the community. Furthermore, the use of ayahuasca is intrinsically linked to the ecological and environmental knowledge of indigenous peoples, as the plants used in its preparation are sourced from the rich biodiversity of the Amazon rainforest.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 9 of 35

- The deep-rooted connection between ayahuasca and indigenous cultures underscores the complex interplay between spiritual beliefs, traditional knowledge, and environmental stewardship. This multifaceted relationship highlights the importance of understanding and respecting the cultural context and indigenous perspectives surrounding the use of ayahuasca. The use of ayahuasca in indigenous cultures extends beyond its psychoactive properties, encompassing a holistic approach to well-being that integrates the spiritual, physical, and environmental aspects of life. Through the guidance of experienced healers, individuals partake in ayahuasca ceremonies as a means of addressing not only personal afflictions but also communal challenges, reinforcing the interconnectedness of the community with the natural world.³²
- In the current global context, there has been a growing interest in the therapeutic potential of ayahuasca from a Western medical perspective. Researchers have conducted studies to explore its effects on mental health conditions such as depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder. However, it is crucial to recognize that the indigenous use of ayahuasca is deeply rooted in a complex web of cultural, spiritual, and environmental elements that cannot be disentangled from the mere examination of its chemical composition or isolated pharmacological effects. This underscores the necessity of upholding ethical considerations and engaging in meaningful dialogue with indigenous communities to ensure that any external interest in ayahuasca aligns with their values and respects their rights.³³ ³⁴

Religious use

Ayahuasca is a sacrament used in the religious ceremonies of various indigenous and syncretic religious groups in the Amazon basin, including the following:

- Santo Daime The Santo Daime religion, originating in Brazil, incorporates ayahuasca into its religious rituals and ceremonies, considering it a sacred medicine for spiritual healing and revelation.
- União do Vegetal UDV is another Brazilian religious organization that uses ayahuasca as a sacrament in its religious practices. The UDV considers ayahuasca a means for spiritual development and communion with the divine.
- Native Amazonian Traditions Various indigenous tribes in the Amazon rainforest have a long history of using ayahuasca in traditional shamanic and spiritual practices as a way to connect with nature and the spirit world.
- Barquinha Barquinha is a syncretic Brazilian religion that incorporates elements of Christianity and indigenous beliefs and also uses ayahuasca in its religious ceremonies.³⁵

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 10 of 35

These are just a few examples of the different religions that use ayahuasca as a central part of their spiritual and religious practices. Each tradition has its own unique approach to incorporating the use of ayahuasca into its religious rituals and beliefs.

Dosage

Ayahuasca is a preparation of different plants made with the *Banisteriopsis caapi* vine and the leaves of *Psychotria viridis*, and the preparation of ayahuasca varies significantly depending on the materials used. The vine is usually crushed or pulverized and cooked together with the leaves until the desired amount and concentration is obtained. Ayahuasca is usually dosed or administered in varying amounts, depending on the potency or concentration of the brew, which is usually known by the healer, shaman, curandero or group who brewed it. The concentrations of alkaloids in ayahuasca vary widely. However, DMT causes intense hallucinogenic effects in humans at doses above 0.2 mg/kg. DMT in ayahuasca comes mainly from *P. viridis* and its concentration ranges from 0.1% to 0.66% in dry matter.³⁶

Customary dosages depend on tradition. In the Santo Daime doses tend to be between 50 and 100 ml, among the Shuar from 20 to 30 ml, in the UDV from 100 to 200 ml. In ayahuasca ceremonies, two or three doses are usually consumed, distributed over the multi-hour session.³⁷

Ayahuasca is considered **dose dependent** (as one increases dosage, subjective effects may be more pronounced). In a study using a standard dose of ayahuasca,³⁸ when DMT dose was 0.5, 0.75 and 12 mg/kg, but using different respondents (71.5 kg, range 66–85), dose-dependent effects were observed. Initial somatic manifestations began to appear after 15 to 30 min after the administration of the drink, psychological manifestations after 30 to 60 min, and both somatic and psychological effects of ayahuasca reach a peak between 60 and 120 min. Then they gradually decrease and disappear completely about 240 min after the ingestion.

Current ayahuasca use for personal growth

In recent decades, people from all over the world have traveled to the Amazon to experience the profound psychological and emotional effects of ayahuasca. No longer limited to indigenous ritual use, ayahuasca has become a popular tool for personal growth and development.

Many who feel stunted in conventional Western therapeutic approaches are now seeking deeper transformation, self-discovery, or overcoming trauma through intense

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 11 of 35

psychedelic exploration. Retreat centers catering to these needs have popped up across Peru, Brazil, and other South American countries where ayahuasca remains legal.³⁹ People come seeking mystical experiences, hoping vivid visions can reveal subconscious blockages, desires, and anxieties that cue breakthroughs unlocking a renewed sense of self once sober reflection takes hold.

While recreational interest also exists, many seek ayahuasca to address mental and physical health conditions. They believe ingesting this psychoactive tea under safe supervision may succeed where years of counseling, self-help strategies, or medication have failed before.

Ethical considerations regarding Ayahuasca use

In the context of ayahuasca use, ethical considerations play a crucial role in ensuring responsible and safe experiences for individuals. One of the most important ethical considerations in ayahuasca use is respect for indigenous cultures and traditions. Individuals should approach ayahuasca with reverence and respect for the indigenous communities that have been using this sacred plant medicine for centuries.⁴⁰

Similarly, individuals should also ensure that they are engaging in ayahuasca ceremonies that are conducted by trained and experienced facilitators who have a deep understanding of the cultural traditions and rituals surrounding Ayahuasca use.

Furthermore, it is essential to acknowledge the cultural and spiritual significance of ayahuasca to indigenous communities in the Amazon. Respect for the traditions and knowledge of the indigenous peoples who have been using Ayahuasca for centuries is paramount in ethical ayahuasca usage.⁴¹

Additionally, the concept of reciprocity is also crucial in the ethical framework of ayahuasca. This includes showing gratitude and respect for the indigenous cultures and traditions associated with the brew. Practitioners, policy-makers and researchers face significant challenges in responding to psychoactive substance use that resists traditional conceptualizations and categorizations of illegal drug "abuse." ⁴² Individuals who engage in ayahuasca ceremonies should consider ways to give back to the communities where the tradition originates, whether through financial support, advocacy, or other means of reciprocity.⁴³

It is also important to consider the impact of ayahuasca tourism on local communities and the environment.⁴⁴ Ethical practitioners should strive to minimize their ecological footprint and support local economies sustainably and responsibly. In addition to the

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $12 \ \mathrm{of}\ 35$

ethical considerations mentioned above, it is important for individuals participating in ayahuasca ceremonies to prioritize their own physical and mental well-being. This includes conducting thorough research on the potential risks and benefits of Ayahuasca, as well as being mindful of any pre-existing medical conditions that may interact with the brew.

Finally, it is crucial for individuals engaging in ayahuasca ceremonies to approach the experience with humility and openness. This entails being receptive to the teachings and insights that may arise during the ceremony and approaching the experience with a mindset of learning and personal growth.

By incorporating these ethical principles into ayahuasca usage, individuals can contribute to the preservation of indigenous traditions, minimize potential harm, and cultivate a greater sense of responsibility and respect for the communities and environments in which Ayahuasca is traditionally used.

Chemical Composition of Ayahuasca

Ayahuasca is a complex psychoactive brew that is prepared by combining two plants, *Banisteriopsis caapi* and *Psychotria viridis*. The former contains harmala alkaloids, most notably harmine, harmaline, and tetrahydroharmine, while the latter contains N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT), the primary psychoactive compound in ayahuasca. The combination of these plants results in a unique chemical composition that gives rise to ayahuasca's psychoactive effects.

DMT, a potent hallucinogen, acts as a serotonin receptor agonist, binding to serotonin receptors in the brain and producing profound alterations in consciousness. ⁴⁵ DMT in Ayahuasca comes mainly from *P. viridis* and its concentration ranges from 0.1% to 0.66% in dry matter. ⁴⁶

For DMT to exert its effects when consumed orally, it must be taken with a monoamine oxidase inhibitor to prevent the gut and liver from degrading it and to lengthen its action. The harmala alkaloids in ayahuasca are responsible for inhibiting the action of the enzyme monoamine oxidase, allowing DMT to be orally active and produce its psychoactive effects.⁴⁷

What is N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT)?

For centuries, humans have consumed N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) as a key ingredient in various tisanes and snuffs used during religious ceremonies in Central and South America. 48 Cited as early as the 15th century, these concoctions were made from

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 13 of 35

vines, roots, and shrubs native to these regions and were purportedly used by indigenous peoples to facilitate their communication with the gods. Of the natural products in these mixtures, **DMT** has garnered significant interest as it causes intense hallucinogenic effects in humans at doses above 0.2 mg/kg. Initial scientific studies on DMT conducted in the late-20th century suggested that at lower doses, it had mood-elevating and calming properties. Today, it is thought that DMT and related alkaloids might be used to treat depression and other neuropsychiatric disorders.

Functionally, DMT is most like the serotonergic psychedelics compounds that have "mind-manifesting" properties and are infamous for their effects on perception.⁴⁹ In fact, the structure of DMT constitutes the core of several important psychedelic compounds, including lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD), ibogaine, psilocybin, and 5-MeO-DMT.

DMT was first synthesized by a Canadian chemist, Richard Manske, in 1931.⁵⁰ The presence of endogenous DMT in the human brain has been detected, namely in the pineal gland and cerebrospinal fluid. Strassman provided the hypothesis that DMT could be produced by the pineal gland itself, which would explain extracorporeal, mystical and spiritual experiences, and that DMT's own production should increase especially in extreme situations, such as agony preceding the onset of death.

Mechanisms of action in the body and brain

The mechanisms of action of ayahuasca are complex and not yet fully understood. The harmala alkaloids act as reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase, leading to increased levels of neurotransmitters such as serotonin, dopamine, and norepinephrine in the brain. DMT, on the other hand, exerts its effects primarily through binding to serotonin receptors, particularly the 5-HT2A receptor, which is implicated in the modulation of mood, perception, and cognition. Description of mood, perception, and cognition.

Leaves of *P. viridis* or *D. cabrerana* contain the psychoactive compound N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT), a commonly found alkaloid present in over fifty other plant species that can induce brief but intense psychoactive effects, including visual hallucinations. DMT acts on specific serotonin receptors in the brain, 5-HT-2A, as well as sigma-1 receptor sites. 5-HT-2A receptors are widely distributed in the central nervous system and play a key role in the regulation of cortical function and cognition, including learning and memory. DMT also has an affinity for other 5-HT subtypes of the receptor (1A, 1B, 1D, 2A, 2B, 2C, 6 and 7).⁵³ Agonists of these receptors mediate hallucinogenic activity and may produce antipsychotic, antidepressant, and anxiolytic effects.⁵⁴ Sigma-1 receptors, in contrast, have important roles in the modulation of neuronal physiology

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 14 of 35

and synaptic plasticity, and may have neuroprotective properties for neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease. 55 β -carbolines as harmine and harmaline can also be hallucinogenic in sufficient quantities. 56

If taken orally, DMT is broken down by a digestive enzyme called monoamine oxidase (MAO) which prevents its psychoactive effects. 57 MAO-inhibiting beta-carbolines present in B. Caapi prevents the gastrointestinal breakdown of DMT, allowing it to cross the blood brain barrier and reach the central nervous system. For this reason, DMT present in *P. viridis* or *D. cabrerana* alone is not psychoactive after oral administration, and *B. caapi* must be infused with these leaves. Following the administration of ayahuasca, DMT and β -carboniles are present in the human organism and are metabolized and excreted in the urine.

Effects on consciousness and subjective experiences

Ayahuasca is known for inducing profound alterations in consciousness, often described as mystical, visionary, and transformative experiences. The subjective effects of ayahuasca can vary widely, but common experiences include visual and auditory hallucinations, ⁵⁸ enhanced emotional awareness, ego dissolution, and a sense of connection with nature, others, and the spiritual realm. ⁵⁹ ⁶⁰ ⁶¹The unique combination of harmala alkaloids and DMT in ayahuasca contributes to its distinctive psychoactive effects, which can have lasting impacts on personal beliefs, perspectives, and well-being. ⁶²

Preparation and Consumption

As with most psychedelics, outcomes are generally better if one has done both preparation prior to the experience and integration afterward.

Preparation

As with other psychedelics, ayahuasca ceremonies can be intense and overwhelming experiences. Without proper preparation, individuals may feel anxious, confused, or even have a challenging trip. Therefore, preparation is an essential step towards having a safe, transformative experience.

One crucial aspect of preparation is educating oneself about ayahuasca. It is essential to consult reliable sources, as education not only provides a better understanding of what to expect but also helps in setting realistic expectations for the journey. Further, seek guidance from psychedelic integration therapists or trusted professionals who can

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 15 of 35

prepare you for a ayahuasca experience by providing valuable insights, tips, and tools for navigating the journey.

In addition to preparing oneself mentally and physically, it is equally essential to prepare emotionally for a ayahuasca journey. Ayahuasca can bring up intense emotions and experiences, it is vital to be in a stable emotional state before embarking on the journey. This could involve practicing mindfulness and self-care activities leading up to the journey, as well as addressing any underlying emotional issues.

It is also crucial to have a support system in place during and after the ayahuasca journey. Support systems can include a trusted friend or therapist who can provide guidance and comfort during challenging moments. It is normal to experience a range of emotions during and after the journey, so having someone to talk to can be immensely helpful.

Diet or Dieta

Proper preparation for ayahuasca consumption often includes a 'dieta' - a diet of sorts that often includes avoidance of certain foods, other psychoactive substances like alcohol and cannabis, and sexual intimacy.⁶³ It may also include the consumption of non-psychoactive plants. One study on the purposes of this diet found that the studied Peruvian curanderos stated the diet was for health-related purposes and skill or knowledge acquisition-related purposes, meaning that the diet made the ayahuasca safer for the person consuming, and improved their health going into the ceremony, as well as sets their mind and body up for getting the most out of the ceremony itself.⁶⁴

The suggested dietary regimen, known as the *dieta*, for ayahuasca emphasizes a light and nutritious diet, often minimizing or eliminating animal products. Rooted in indigenous traditions, these dietary principles are argued to play a crucial role in preparing the body for an ayahuasca ceremony. In dietas alcohol, drugs, sex, sugar, salt, pork, and some other substances are often forbidden in order to allow better communication with the plant spirits. ⁶⁵ There is limited scientific research specifically focused on the ayahuasca diet.

Typically, in Western-run ayahuasca retreats, participants are advised to adhere to a set of dietary restrictions for a period of three to seven days before and after consuming ayahuasca. These guidelines often include abstaining from red meat, pork, sugar, spicy foods, coffee, alcohol, illicit drugs, anti-depressant medications, and sexual activities. These substances and activities form a foundational set of dietary and behavioral constraints loosely referred to as the "Western ayahuasca dieta." Many ayahuasca

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $16\ \mathrm{of}\ 35$

retreats or centers dictate much larger lists of restrictions, with some listing over 100 foods and substances that must be avoided. Retreats may also proscribe extra behaviors, such as a prohibition of "overstimulation of any kind: sexual, violent films, stressful and toxic environments." **However, there is little to no conclusive evidence supporting these practices.**

Scientifically, molecules in the ayahuasca brew are known to inhibit enzymes in the stomach that regulate the intake of serotonin and other neurotransmitters. Some scientists argue that ayahuasca can open the subject to forms of poisoning if combined with the chemical tyramine, which is found in various typically benign foods.⁶⁷ Scientists have posited that consuming certain foods just before ingesting ayahuasca could potentially lead to hypertension. Additionally, it is suggested that specific antidepressant medications may trigger the potentially lethal condition of serotonin syndrome.⁶⁸ However, conclusive evidence supporting these risks is lacking, and some scientists, including Luis Fernando Tófoli, argue that the dangers have been overstated. This uncertainty regarding the biological safety of consuming ayahuasca has been acknowledged by some Western practitioners and ritual specialists who assert that the dieta's significance lies not in biological risk but solely in spiritual and psychological benefits. According to this perspective, adhering to the dieta helps individuals accept the group leader, cultural context, and psychologically challenging aspects of the ayahuasca experience. Westerners generally perceive the ayahuasca dieta in this manner. Even though research does not support (for example removing certain pharmaceuticals or specific behavioral or dietary restrictions, it is customary to follow the guidelines set forth by indigenous facilitators as this knowledge has been passed down by word of mouth for millennia, and simply not researched yet.

Importance of proper set and setting

The set and setting play a crucial role in the overall experience and safety when consuming ayahuasca. ⁶⁹ The term "set" refers to the mindset, intentions, and emotional state of the individual, while "setting" pertains to the physical and social environment within which the ayahuasca ceremony takes place. It is imperative to cultivate a positive mindset, approach the experience with respect and reverence, and establish clear intentions for personal growth or healing. Moreover, the setting should be comfortable, supportive, and conducive to introspection and exploration. A safe and well-prepared ceremonial space, led by experienced facilitators, can significantly enhance the overall safety and efficacy of the ayahuasca experience.

The preparation and consumption of ayahuasca are deeply rooted in traditional practices and ceremonies. While the proliferation of ayahuasca in Western society is a recent phenomenon, ayahuasca has been cultivated, prepared, and consumed for

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 17 of 35

thousands of years in indigenous Amazonian cultures as a sacrament in religion, healing, and spiritual ceremonies. The process of preparing ayahuasca involves a meticulous combination of the *B. caapi* vine and the leaves of the *Psychotria viridis* shrub, often under the guidance of experienced shamans or practitioners.⁷⁰ The preparation typically includes the maceration and boiling of the plants to extract the psychoactive compounds and create a potent brew.

Different procedures used for the preparation of ayahuasca decoction, as well as the use of different parts of plants of the same or different species, can result in a high variability of concentrations of individual components. Active ingredients of ayahuasca are sparingly soluble in water and almost insoluble at room temperature. During the preparation of the decoction from these plants at elevated temperature, the active ingredients are partially pre-distilled into the aqueous medium. Regarding the proportional representation of the individual active ingredients of ayahuasca in decoctions, the most represented of β -carbolines is harmine, which is usually more than 15 times higher in concentration than harmaline.

Once prepared, the consumption of ayahuasca is usually done in a ceremonial setting, often accompanied by specific rituals and chants. **Preparation for these ceremonies begins days or weeks in advance**, and often includes psychospiritual preparation, dietary modifications, education about the plant medicine, the practice of intention setting, and cessation of many types of medications.⁷² Preparatory practices vary across cultures, communities, and ceremony leaders, but common elements include dietary and behavioral restrictions (e.g., limiting dairy, meats, alcohol, sugar, and sexual activity). Participants are advised to approach the experience with reverence and respect for the plant medicine, acknowledging its potential for profound physical, emotional, and spiritual effects.⁷³

Without adequate preparation and support, inexperienced individuals attending ayahuasca ceremonies are at risk for challenging and potentially harmful experiences during and following the ceremony.

The effects of ayahuasca can vary widely among individuals, and the experience is often described as intense and introspective. Users may report visual and auditory hallucinations, ⁷⁴ profound emotional insights, and a heightened sense of interconnectedness with the natural world and the universe at large. The duration of the experience can last several hours, during which participants are encouraged to remain open to the insights and teachings that may arise.

It's important to emphasize that the consumption of ayahuasca should only be done in a safe and controlled environment, preferably under the guidance of experienced

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 18 of 35

facilitators who can provide support throughout the journey. Additionally, individuals with certain medical or psychiatric conditions should exercise caution and seek professional advice before considering participation in an ayahuasca ceremony.⁷⁵

For an individual drinking ayahuasca, one must surrender to the ayahuasca experience and meet the medicine halfway, ⁷⁶ which includes the willingness to implement and integrate the lessons learned during the experience. In traditional practices of ayahuasca, facilitators, often called shamans, play a crucial role in the potential to improve the outcomes of ayahuasca drinking by guiding individuals through the various stages of an ayahuasca journey.

Overview of existing scientific research on ayahuasca

Ayahuasca has associated benefits for a range of physiological and psychological maladies, including depression, suicidality, anxiety, trauma, grief, addiction and substance use, and neurodegenerative disease. Although much of the research investigating the therapeutic effects of ayahuasca is in its early stages, there is considerable evidence to support further research into the therapeutic potential of ayahuasca.

Depression

An estimated 21 million adults in the United States⁷⁷ have had at least one major depressive episode. Treatment-resistant depression (TRD) is a subset of Major Depressive Disorder, affecting one in three diagnosed patients where individuals do not respond to traditional treatments.⁷⁸ Pre-clinical and observational studies have demonstrated the potential of ayahuasca as a rapidly-acting antidepressant.⁷⁹ In an open-label trial conducted in an inpatient psychiatric unit, participants receiving a single dose of ayahuasca experienced significant reductions of up to 82% in depressive scores.⁸⁰ Similarly, in a recent international cross-sectional study of 11,912 ayahuasca consumers, 78% of participants reported their depression was 'very much' improved or 'completely resolved' following the consumption of ayahuasca.

Suicidality

In 2019, suicide was the tenth leading cause of death in the United States, claiming the lives of over 47,500 people.⁸¹ A single dose of ayahuasca can produce a significant reduction in both immediate and long-term (up to 21 days) reports of suicidality.⁸²

Anxiety

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $19 \ of \ 35$

An estimated 31.1% of U.S. adults experience any anxiety disorder at some time in their lives.⁸³ 70% of individuals with anxiety reported their symptoms were 'very much' improved or 'completely resolved' after a single dose of ayahuasca.⁸⁴ In another study assessing ayahuasca ceremony attendants, reduced ratings of anxiety and self-reported stress were observed 4-weeks post-ceremony.⁸⁵

Trauma

The high complexity of symptoms related to trauma represent a significant challenge to traditional therapeutic approaches. Ayahuasca experiences have been likened to intense psychotherapy, ⁸⁶ suggesting its therapeutic potential for treating trauma and traumarelated disorders, such as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Neurological evidence indicates ayahuasca increases activity in neural areas associated with memory and emotional arousal, ⁸⁷ supporting suggestions that processing of trauma after ingesting ayahuasca may occur via reprocessing of autobiographical and emotional memories.

Grief

Bereavement, defined as a period of grief after the death of a loved one, is a universally-experienced condition. Recently, Prolonged Grief Disorder was included in the International Classification of Disease, with an estimated 9.8% prevalence among bereaved individuals. ⁸⁸ In a recent study of bereaved individuals participating in the ceremonial use of ayahuasca, a significant reduction in the severity of grief was observed, ⁸⁹ and this reduction was maintained at a one-year follow-up.

Addiction and substance use

Substance use disorders are among the most prevalent psychiatric disorders. Nearly 92,000 persons in the U.S. died from a drug-involved overdose in 2020. Preclinical and observational studies suggest individuals with substance use disorders engaging in ayahuasca use report reductions in drug use, anxiety, depression, and increases in quality of life and well-being. In a recent large cross-sectional study across over 40 countries, ayahuasca use was strongly associated with lower self-reported consumption of alcohol and other drugs. Page 1920.

Neurodegenerative diseases

In a recent in vitro and vivo rodent study, DMT, the psychoactive component in ayahuasca, was found to promote the generation of new neurons. ⁹³ Ayahuasca's ability to modulate brain plasticity therefore suggests it has great therapeutic potential in a range of disorders, including neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $20\ of\ 35$

Ayahuasca effects in unique and minority populations

A study by Weiss et al. in 2023 investigated the potential therapeutic effects of ayahuasca in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder in veterans, showing promising results in reducing PTSD symptoms.⁹⁴

In a groundbreaking and unique study, Roseman et al. conducted a trial that brought together Israelis and Palestinians to explore the potential therapeutic effects of ayahuasca in addressing deep-seated traumas and conflicts. ⁹⁵The study aimed to investigate the impact of ayahuasca-assisted therapy in promoting healing and reconciliation between the two groups. The results of the study revealed a significant reduction in symptoms of trauma and improved intergroup relations, indicating the potential of ayahuasca as a tool for fostering understanding and peace between Israelis and Palestinians.

In a study by Unlimited Sciences in conjunction with UCSF and Imperial College London, data was gathered on ceremonial ayahuasca use in female Middle Eastern and North African (MENA) immigrants and refugees found that it led to significant improvements in mental health, well-being, and psychological functioning, including reductions in depression, anxiety, and shame, and increases in cognitive reappraisal and self-compassion. Changes in depression and anxiety were significantly associated with acute psychedelic effects related to perceived togetherness and awe, respectively. Participants reported positive behavioral changes persisting months after ingestion, such as improved relationships with others and improved diet/nutrition. 96

Inflammation

Ayahuasca has even been found to lower levels of C-reactive protein, a marker of inflammation. That decrease was also associated with a decrease in depressive symptoms.⁹⁷

Potential risks and adverse effects of ayahuasca

Although some rare case reports suggest that ayahuasca administration may have played a role in isolated deaths, there is no evidence to suggest a direct causal relationship between ayahuasca and mortality. However, some adverse reactions are common after consumption of ayahuasca.

 Ayahuasca requires careful consideration of the potential risks and adverse effects it presents. While most users report transformative experiences with positive

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $21\ {
m of}\ 35$

- outcomes, it is crucial to acknowledge and address the potential adverse effects associated with ayahuasca use.
- Among the commonly reported adverse effects are nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, dizziness, and increased heart rate, primarily attributed to the alkaloids present in the brew, notably N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) and harmala alkaloids.^{98 99} These compounds impact various systems within the body, including the central nervous system, cardiovascular system, and gastrointestinal system.
- Harmaline and harmine in ayahuasca usually cause unpleasant physical sensations, especially paresthesia and numbness, intense vomiting, dizziness, and focusing problems.¹⁰⁰
- A direct relationship between the level of harmaline in the brew and the degree of vomiting was described. 101 It also triggered the urge to defecate, especially at the onset of effects. Vomiting and diarrhea may be considered to be the result of increased serotonin levels in the gastrointestinal tract. 102 Vomiting may be induced by increased vagus nerve stimulation at serotonin receptors in the central region. Elevated stimulation of serotonin receptors in the peripheral region in turn increased intestinal motility, resulting in diarrhea.
- Vomiting is considered dangerous, because it can theoretically lead to aspiration of gastric contents and thus endanger health and even life.
- Despite this, generally many users do not consider vomiting or diarrhea to be a discomfort, but rather a kind of purge effect for the body.
- Ingestion of higher doses may be accompanied by an increase in blood pressure and pulse rate, which may lead to dangerous side effects in case of pre-existing heart disease
- From a medical point of view, a combination of ayahuasca with prescription drugs, especially SSRI antidepressants (selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors), means a great risk. Their combination can cause serotonin syndrome, which is a potentially life-threatening condition.¹⁰³
- However, no adverse effects were observed in long-term ayahuasca users or in elderly people. 104
- Furthermore, it is important to recognize that the profound alterations in perception, cognition, and emotions induced by ayahuasca can be overwhelming and challenging for individuals, particularly those with pre-existing mental health conditions.

Precautions and guidelines for safe ayahuasca use

 Given the potentially intense and unpredictable nature of ayahuasca experiences, it is paramount to approach the brew with caution and within a safe and supportive environment. Enacting various precautions and adhering to specific guidelines can significantly contribute to a safe ayahuasca journey.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 22 of 35

These precautions include:

- o seeking guidance from experienced and reputable ayahuasca facilitators possessing the necessary knowledge and expertise,
- engaging in thorough medical screening and discussing potential contraindications with a healthcare professional,
- o obtaining relevant information regarding the potential effects, risks, and possible interactions with medications or other substances,
- ensuring the physical safety of the ceremony space and having access to appropriate medical support if required.
- o maintaining a respectful and mindful attitude towards the brew, and
- adhering to any dietary restrictions or preparatory practices recommended by the facilitator.¹⁰⁵
- Additionally, being accompanied by a trusted person who can offer emotional support during and after the ayahuasca experience can greatly enhance the safety and overall well-being of the individual.

Contraindications and medication interactions

Ayahuasca is contraindicated for certain individuals due to potential health risks and possible interactions.

The following categories of people should avoid the use of ayahuasca:

- 1) individuals with a history of severe mental health disorders, such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or psychosis,
- 2) individuals with heart conditions, high blood pressure, or a history of cardiovascular problems. 106
- 3) individuals who are pregnant or breastfeeding, as the effects of ayahuasca on fetal and neonatal development are not well understood,
- 4) individuals taking medications or substances that may negatively interact with ayahuasca, including antidepressants, antipsychotics, MAOIs (monoamine oxidase inhibitors), trazodone, and St John's wort.¹⁰⁷

Integration

Integration refers to the process of incorporating insights gained during a psychedelic experience into one's daily life. Integration can extend for weeks or months. This includes reflecting on insights gained during the journey and applying them to personal growth and well-being. Integration can also involve addressing any challenging emotions or experiences that may have arisen during the journey. This is crucial as the insights

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 23 of 35

gained during an ayahuasca journey can be profound and transformative, but without integration, they may not have lasting effects. 109

An ayahuasca journey can be a deeply transformative experience, often bringing about profound insights and shifts in perspective. However, without proper integration, these realizations may fade away over time or even become overwhelming. The goal of integration is to make lasting changes based on the insights gained from an ayahuasca journey.

How to integrate after an ayahuasca journey

Some commonly recommended integration activities include: 110

- 1. Journaling: Writing down thoughts and emotions can help individuals process their experiences and gain deeper insights.
- 2. Therapy or Counseling: Working with a licensed mental health professional who is familiar with ayahuasca can aid in the integration process.
- 3. Mindfulness Practices: Engaging in mindful activities such as meditation, yoga, or nature walks can help individuals stay present and connected to themselves.
- 4. Support Groups: Connecting with others who have had similar experiences can provide a sense of community and support during the integration process.
- 5. Practicing self-care: An ayahuasca journey can be physically, mentally, and emotionally demanding. After the experience, it is important to prioritize self-care activities such as rest, healthy eating, exercise, and relaxation techniques.

Overview of Ayahuasca's Legality

The international legal landscape

Ayahuasca's legal status varies greatly across different countries and regions. While it holds a sacred status in indigenous cultures as a plant medicine, contemporary society imposes restrictions and regulations on its legality. Globally, the United Nations classifies ayahuasca as a Schedule I substance under the Convention on Psychotropic Substances. This classification indicates that ayahuasca is deemed highly prone to abuse with no recognized medical use. Nevertheless, the interpretation and enforcement of international drug treaties differ among countries, leading to a complex and diverse legal landscape.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 24 of 35

Legal status in specific countries and regions

Different countries have adopted varying approaches in regulating the use of ayahuasca. In Brazil, ayahuasca is legally permissible for religious and spiritual purposes due to its integral role in religious practices such as Santo Daime, União do Vegetal, and Barquinha. Likewise, in Peru, the legal protection of ayahuasca as a cultural heritage allows for its use in traditional indigenous ceremonies. Conversely, countries like the United States and numerous European nations classify ayahuasca as a controlled substance, prohibiting its possession, distribution, and utilization. Some countries have implemented specific legislation to permit the religious use of ayahuasca, while others operate in legal gray areas.

Legal challenges and controversies surrounding ayahuasca

The legal status of ayahuasca has given rise to numerous challenges and controversies. Legal battles have emerged in support of the religious use of ayahuasca, with indigenous and religious groups advocating for recognition of their cultural practices and rights to engage with this sacred medicine. These challenges often revolve around the delicate balance between individual religious freedom and public health concerns, as well as the potential risks associated with ayahuasca use. In addition, issues such as intellectual property rights and cultural appropriation have come to the forefront, as Western individuals and organizations commercialize ayahuasca-related practices without obtaining informed consent or providing fair compensation to indigenous communities.

Frequently Asked Questions:

Q: Is Ayahuasca Safe? What are the main health risks?

In structured settings with health screening and supervision by qualified personnel, ayahuasca doses appear relatively physiologically safe. Risks include psychological distress, temporary cardiovascular effects, and contraindications with some medications/pre-existing conditions like bipolar disorder or SSRI antidepressants. Risks increase severely if it's done without proper oversight. Please seek guidance from your healthcare provider if you have any medical concerns or are on any medications.

Q: Will I vomit on Ayahuasca?

Vomiting or purging is a very common physiological effect during the ayahuasca experience. The purgative properties come from the beta-carboline compounds in the Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 25 of 35

brew stimulating digestion along with nausea. Purging is considered by traditional groups as an integral detoxifying part of the ritual allowing emotional release along with physical cleansing. While unpleasant, vomiting isn't usually dangerous with ayahuasca unless pre-existing medical conditions may lead to complications. Those leading ceremonies are generally well-equipped to handle participants getting sick. Modern usage spaces sessions apart to minimize heaviness. But purging remains likely given ayahuasca's emetic nature so readiness for vomiting helps mentally prepare. Light meals and pre-ceremony fasting help reduce the intensity. The focus remains on embracing the journey without resistance. Indigenous cultures even see power in overcoming the purge. Other forms of purge may occur, such as diarrhea, sweating, crying, or shaking.

Q: Where can one find reputable Ayahuasca ceremonies or retreats?

It's essential to research and choose reputable Ayahuasca ceremonies or retreats thoroughly. Seek recommendations, read reviews, and ensure that the facilitators or shamans have experience and prioritize participants' safety and well-being.

Remember, Ayahuasca is a powerful and sacred plant medicine that should be approached with respect, caution, and a deep understanding of its cultural and spiritual context. If in doubt, consult with healthcare professionals or experienced practitioners for guidance.

Q: What does a traditional ayahuasca ceremony involve?

Indigenous ayahuasca ceremonies are elaborate ritual events led by an experienced shaman who prepares the brew and then guides participants through group experiences. Ceremonies include purposes like holistic healing, initiations into adulthood, connecting with ancestors, and receiving guidance from spirits or plant teachers. Traditional elements involve chanting sacred songs (icaros), rattling, percussion music, tobacco smoke blowing and others.

Q: What should someone expect after participating in an ayahuasca ceremony?

The days following a ceremony are when you integrate lessons, visions, and unlocked emotions into everyday life, which takes reflection through practices like creative expression, journaling, or group discussions. Digestion may need resettling with blander diets temporarily. Flashbacks occasionally happen too. Overall integration takes work beyond ceremonies alone to actualize positive growth and self-discovery initiated by ayahuasca's visionary stimulus.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $26 \ \mathrm{of}\ 35$

Q: What are some common substances to avoid while preparing to consume ayahuasca?

It is important to note that there is limited scientific research specifically focused on the ayahuasca diet. However, common substances that are typically avoided while ingesting ayahuasca include the following:

- Alcohol
- Marijuana and other drugs
- Caffeine (the best way to stop caffeine is to incrementally lower your consumption to avoid withdrawals)
- Red meat
- Pork
- Shellfish
- Refined sugars
- Nuts (on a limited basis)
- Dairy
- Fermented foods (yeast/pickles/vinegar/most salad dressings, etc)
- Soy products (including miso and tofu)
- Salty foods
- Fried Foods
- Spicy foods
- Chocolate
- Overripe fruits
- No salt or citrus on the day of ceremony only
- No sex (or masturbation) for 3 days before the ceremony (and 3 days after).

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $27 \ \mathrm{of}\ 35$

Q: Can I drink ayahuasca if I'm taking prescription medication?

If you are on any anti-anxiety medications, antidepressants, amphetamines, antihypertensives, antipsychotics, antihistamines, heart medications or decongestants, please consult your doctor prior to signing up for an ayahuasca ceremony. Please also discuss any medication use with the facilitator.

Q: What is a typical dose?

The specific ingredients and methods of preparation vary among different indigenous tribes. Due to these differences, potency can differ substantially across different methods of preparation. Individuals consuming ayahuasca should always proceed with caution. Ayahuasca is administered in varying amounts, depending on the potency or concentration of the brew, which is usually known by the healer, shaman, curandero or group who brewed it.

References

- ⁹ Domínguez-Clavé, E., Soler, J., Elices, M., Pascual, J. C., Álvarez, E., de la Fuente Revenga, M., ... & Riba, J. (2016). Ayahuasca: Pharmacology, neuroscience and therapeutic potential. Brain research bulletin, 126, 89-101.
- ¹⁰ Ujváry I. Psychoactive natural products: Overview of recent developments. Ann. Ist. Super. Sanita. 2014;50:12–27. doi: 10.4415/ANN_14_01_04.
- ¹¹ Shanon, B. (2002). Ayahuasca visualizations a structural typology. Journal of Consciousness Studies, 9(2), 3-30.
- ¹² Morales-Garcia, J. A., Calleja-Conde, J., Lopez-Moreno, J. A., Alonso-Gil, S., Sanz-SanCristobal, M., Riba, J., & Perez-Castillo, A. (2020). N,N-dimethyltryptamine compound found in the hallucinogenic tea ayahuasca, regulates adult neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Translational psychiatry, 10(1), 331. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-01011-0
- ¹³ Soler, J., Elices, M., Franquesa, A., Barker, S., Friedlander, P., Feilding, A., Pascual, J. C., & Riba, J. (2016). Exploring the therapeutic potential of Ayahuasca: acute intake increases mindfulness-related capacities. Psychopharmacology, 233(5), 823–829. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4162-0
- ¹⁴ Dos Santos, R. G., Valle, M., Bouso, J. C., Nomdedéu, J. F., Rodríguez-Espinosa, J., McIlhenny, E. H., ... & Riba, J. (2011). Autonomic, neuroendocrine, and immunological effects of ayahuasca: a comparative study with damphetamine. Journal of clinical psychopharmacology, 31(6), 717-726.
- ¹⁵ Callaway J.C., Grob C.S., McKenna D.J., Nichols D.E., Shulgin A., Tupper K.W. A demand for clarity regarding a case report on the ingestion of 5-methoxy-N, N-dimethyltryptamine (5-MeO-DMT) in an Ayahuasca preparation. J. Anal. Toxicol. 2006;30:406–407. doi: 10.1093/jat/30.6.406.
- ¹⁶ Gonzalez, D., Cantillo, J., Perez, I., Carvalho, M., Aronovich, A., Farre, M., Feilding, A., Obiols, J. E., & Bouso, J. C. (2021). The Shipibo Ceremonial Use of Ayahuasca to Promote Well-Being: An Observational Study. Frontiers in pharmacology, 12, 623923. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.623923

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $29 \ of \ 35$

¹ Barceloux D.G. Medical Toxicology of Drug Abuse: Synthesized Chemicals and Psychoactive Plants. Acad. Forensic Pathol. 2012;2:1041. doi: 10.1177/192536211200200301.

²https://www.iceers.org/Documents_ICEERS_site/Scientific_Papers/ayahuasca/Rafael_Guimares_The%20Ethnopharmacology of Ayahuasca/EthnopharmAyahuasca_Chapter1.pdf

³ Hamill, J., Hallak, J., Dursun, S. M., & Baker, G. (2019). Ayahuasca: Psychological and Physiologic Effects, Pharmacology and Potential Uses in Addiction and Mental Illness. Current neuropharmacology, 17(2), 108–128. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X16666180125095902

⁴ Miller, M. J., Albarracin-Jordan, J., Moore, C., & Capriles, J. M. (2019). Chemical evidence for the use of multiple psychotropic plants in a 1,000-year-old ritual bundle from South America. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 116(23), 11207–11212. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1902174116
https://www.iceers.org/Documents ICEERS site/Scientific Papers/ayahuasca/Rafael Guimares The%20Ethnoph armacology of Ayahuasca/EthnopharmAyahuasca Chapter1.pdf

⁶ Domínguez-Clavé, E., Soler, J., Elices, M., Pascual, J. C., Álvarez, E., de la Fuente Revenga, M., Friedlander, P., Feilding, A., & Riba, J. (2016). Ayahuasca: Pharmacology, neuroscience and therapeutic potential. Brain research bulletin, 126(Pt 1), 89–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2016.03.002

⁷ Strassman, R. (2000). DMT: The spirit molecule: A doctor's revolutionary research into the biology of near-death and mystical experiences. Simon and Schuster.

⁸ Nižnanský, Ľ., Nižnanská, Ž., Kuruc, R., Szórádová, A., Šikuta, J., & Zummerová, A. (2022). Ayahuasca as a decoction applied to human: analytical methods, pharmacology and potential toxic effects. Journal of Clinical Medicine, 11(4), 1147.

¹⁷ "Designing for Life" in Scientific American Magazine Vol. 326 No. 5 (May 2022), p. 70

¹⁸ Luna, L E. (1984, July 1). The healing practices of a peruvian shaman. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 11(2), 123-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8741(84)90035-7

^{© 2024} Unlimited Sciences. All rights reserved. No part of this educational guide may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of Unlimited Sciences, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law. For permission requests, please contact Unlimited Sciences at support@unlimitedsciences.org.

- ²⁰ Nižnanský, Ľ., Nižnanská, Ž., Kuruc, R., Szórádová, A., Šikuta, J., & Zummerová, A. (2022). Ayahuasca as a decoction applied to human: analytical methods, pharmacology and potential toxic effects. Journal of Clinical Medicine, 11(4), 1147.
- ²¹ Bennett, B. C. (1992). Hallucinogenic plants of the Shuar and related indigenous groups in Amazonian Ecuador and Peru. Brittonia, 44, 483-493.
- ²² Gonçalves J., Lu Â., Gradillas A., Garc A., Restolho J., Domingues F., Gallardo E., Duarte A.P. Ayahuasca Beverages: Phytochemical Analysis and Biological Properties. Antibiotics. 2020;9:731. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics9110731.
- ²³ James, E., Keppler, J., Robertshaw, T. L., & Sessa, B. (2022). N,n-dimethyltryptamine and amazonian ayahuasca plant medicine. Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental, 37(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.2835
- ²⁴ Marcus O. (2023). 'Everybody's creating it along the way': ethical tensions among globalized ayahuasca shamanisms and therapeutic integration practices. Interdisciplinary science reviews: ISR, 48(5), 712–731. https://doi.org/10.1080/03080188.2022.2075201
- ²⁵ McKenna D.J. Clinical investigations of the therapeutic potential of ayahuasca: Rationale and regulatory challenges. Pharmacol. Ther. 2004;102:111–129. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2004.03.002.
- ²⁶ Wolff T.J., Passie T. Motivational structure of ayahuasca drinkers in social networks. J. Psychedelic Stud. 2018;2:89–96. doi: 10.1556/2054.2018.010.
- ²⁷ dos Santos R.G., Osório F.L., Crippa J.A.S., Hallak J.E.C. Antidepressive and anxiolytic effects of ayahuasca: A systematic literature review of animal and human studies. Braz. J. Psychiatry. 2016;38:65–72.
- ²⁸ Estrella-Parra E.A., Almanza-Pérez J.C., Alarcón-Aguilar F.J. Ayahuasca: Uses, Phytochemical and Biological Activities. Nat. Prod. Bioprospect. 2019;9:251–265. doi: 10.1007/s13659-019-0210-5.
- ²⁹ European Drug Report 2021: Trends and Developments. 2021. [(accessed on 17 January 2022)]. Available online: https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/13838/TDAT21001ENN.pdf
- ³⁰ Shoemaker, A. (2014). Ayahuasca medicine: The shamanic world of Amazonian sacred plant healing. Simon and Schuster.
- ³¹ Estrella-Parra, E.A., Almanza-Pérez, J.C. & Alarcón-Aguilar, F.J. Ayahuasca: Uses, Phytochemical and Biological Activities. Nat. Prod. Bioprospect. 9, 251–265 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13659-019-0210-5
- ³² Kramer, N. (2022). The Efficacy of Relationality in a Psychedelic Community Healing Ritual: A Research-as-Ceremony Inquiry (Doctoral dissertation, Pacifica Graduate Institute).
- ³³ Dev, L. (2018). Plant knowledges: Indigenous approaches and interspecies listening toward decolonizing ayahuasca research. Plant medicines, healing and psychedelic science: Cultural perspectives, 185-204.
- ³⁴ Schenberg, E. E., & Gerber, K. (2022). Overcoming epistemic injustices in the biomedical study of ayahuasca: Towards ethical and sustainable regulation. Transcultural psychiatry, 59(5), 610-624.
- ³⁵ Labate, B. (1999, September 3). Ayahuasca Religions: A Comprehensive Bibliography and Critical Essays. https://www.bialabate.net/books/ayahuasca-religions-a-comprehensive-bibliography-and-critical-essays
- ³⁶ Hamill J., Hallak J., Dursun S.M., Baker G. Ayahuasca: Psychological and Physiologic Effects, Pharmacology and Potential Uses in Addiction and Mental Illness. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 2018;17:108–128. doi: 10.2174/1570159X16666180125095902.
- ³⁷ https://www.iceers.org/ayahuasca-basic-info/
- ³⁸ Riba J., Valle M., Urbano G., Yritia M., Morte A., Barbanoj M.J. Human pharmacology of ayahuasca: Subjective and cardiovascular effects, monoamine metabolite excretion, and pharmacokinetics. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 2003;306:73–83.
- ³⁹ Wolff, T. J. (2020). The touristic use of ayahuasca in Peru. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $30\ of\ 35$

¹⁹ Palhano-Fontes, F., Soares, B. L., Galvão-Coelho, N. L., Arcoverde, E., & Araujo, D. B. (2022). Ayahuasca for the Treatment of Depression. Current topics in behavioral neurosciences, 56, 113–124. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854_2021_277

- ⁴⁰ Tupper, K W. (2008, December 9). Ayahuasca healing beyond the Amazon: the globalization of a traditional indigenous entheogenic practice. Global Networks-A Journal of Transnational Affairs, 9(1), 117-136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0374.2009.00245.x
- ⁴¹ Fotiou, E. (2016, September 1). The Globalization of Ayahuasca Shamanism and the Erasure of Indigenous Shamanism. Anthropology of Consciousness, 27(2), 151-179. https://doi.org/10.1111/anoc.12056
- ⁴² Tupper, K. W. (2008). The globalization of ayahuasca: harm reduction or benefit maximization?. International Journal of Drug Policy, 19(4), 297-303.
- ⁴³ Dev, L. (2018). Plant knowledges: Indigenous approaches and interspecies listening toward decolonizing ayahuasca research. Plant medicines, healing and psychedelic science: Cultural perspectives, 185-204.
- ⁴⁴ Prayag, G., Mura, P., Hall, C. M., & Fontaine, J. (2016). Spirituality, drugs, and tourism: tourists' and shamans' experiences of ayahuasca in Iquitos, Peru. Tourism Recreation Research, 41(3), 314-325.
- ⁴⁵ Malcolm, B. J., & Lee, K. C. (2018). Ayahuasca: An ancient sacrament for treatment of contemporary psychiatric illness?. The mental health clinician, 7(1), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.9740/mhc.2017.01.039
- ⁴⁶ Hamill J., Hallak J., Dursun S.M., Baker G. Ayahuasca: Psychological and Physiologic Effects, Pharmacology and Potential Uses in Addiction and Mental Illness. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 2018;17:108–128. doi: 10.2174/1570159X16666180125095902.
- ⁴⁷ Brito-da-Costa, A. M., Dias-da-Silva, D., Gomes, N. G., Dinis-Oliveira, R. J., & Madureira-Carvalho, Á. (2020). Toxicokinetics and toxicodynamics of ayahuasca alkaloids N, N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT), harmine, harmaline and tetrahydroharmine: clinical and forensic impact. Pharmaceuticals, 13(11), 334.
- ⁴⁸ Cameron, L. P., & Olson, D. E. (2018). Dark classics in chemical neuroscience: N, N-Dimethyltryptamine (DMT). ACS chemical neuroscience, 9(10), 2344-2357.
- ⁴⁹ Dunlap, L. E., Andrews, A. M., and Olson, D. E. (2018) Dark Classics in Chemical Neuroscience: 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine. ACS Chem. Neurosci., 1 DOI: 10.1021/acschemneuro.8b00155
- ⁵⁰ Manske, R. (1931). A synthesis of the methyltryptamines and some derivatives. Can. J. Res. 5, 592–600.
- ⁵¹ Brito-da-Costa, A. M., Dias-da-Silva, D., Gomes, N. G., Dinis-Oliveira, R. J., & Madureira-Carvalho, Á. (2020). Toxicokinetics and toxicodynamics of ayahuasca alkaloids N, N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT), harmine, harmaline and tetrahydroharmine: clinical and forensic impact. Pharmaceuticals, 13(11), 334.
- ⁵² Zhang, G., & Stackman Jr, R. W. (2015). The role of serotonin 5-HT2A receptors in memory and cognition. Frontiers in pharmacology, 6, 225.
- ⁵³ Brito-da-costa A.M., Dias-da-silva D., Gomes N.G.M., Dinis-oliveira R.J., Madureira-carvalho Á. Toxicokinetics and toxicodynamics of ayahuasca alkaloids N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT), harmine, harmaline and tetrahydroharmine: Clinical and forensic impact. Pharmaceuticals. 2020;13:334. doi: 10.3390/ph13110334.
- ⁵⁴ Zhang, G., & Stackman, R. W., Jr (2015). The role of serotonin 5-HT2A receptors in memory and cognition. Frontiers in pharmacology, 6, 225. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2015.00225
- ⁵⁵ Ryskamp, D. A., Korban, S., Zhemkov, V., Kraskovskaya, N., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2019). Neuronal Sigma-1 Receptors: Signaling Functions and Protective Roles in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Frontiers in neuroscience, 13, 862. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00862
- ⁵⁶ Frison G., Favretto D., Zancanaro F., Fazzin G., Davide S. A case of b -carboline alkaloid intoxication following ingestion of Peganum harmala seed extract. Forensic Sci. Int. 2008;179:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2008.05.003.
- ⁵⁷ Calina, D., Carvalho, F., & Docea, A. O. (2021). Toxicity of psychedelic drugs. In Toxicological risk assessment and multi-system health impacts from exposure (pp. 545-556). Academic Press.
- ⁵⁸ David, J., Bouso, J. C., Kohek, M., Ona, G., Tadmor, N., Arnon, T., ... & Berkovich-Ohana, A. (2023). Ayahuasca-induced personal death experiences: prevalence, characteristics, and impact on attitudes toward death, life, and the environment. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 14.

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $31\ of\ 35$

- ⁵⁹ Perkins, D., Ruffell, S. G., Day, K., Pinzon Rubiano, D., & Sarris, J. (2023). Psychotherapeutic and neurobiological processes associated with ayahuasca: A proposed model and implications for therapeutic use. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 16, 2255.
- ⁶⁰ Kiraga, M. K., Mason, N. L., Uthaug, M. V., van Oorsouw, K. I., Toennes, S. W., Ramaekers, J. G., & Kuypers, K. P. (2021). Persisting effects of ayahuasca on empathy, creative thinking, decentering, personality, and well-being. Frontiers in pharmacology, 12, 721537.
- ⁶¹ Uthaug, M. V., Van Oorsouw, K., Kuypers, K. P. C., Van Boxtel, M., Broers, N. J., Mason, N. L., ... & Ramaekers, J. G. (2018). Sub-acute and long-term effects of ayahuasca on affect and cognitive thinking style and their association with ego dissolution. Psychopharmacology, 235, 2979-2989.
- ⁶² Santos, R. G. D., Bouso, J. C., & Hallak, J. E. C. (2017). Ayahuasca: what mental health professionals need to know. Archives of Clinical Psychiatry, 44(4), 103+.

https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A586357688/AONE?u=anon~f3e490c3&sid=googleScholar&xid=79a054c9

- ⁶³ O'Shaughnessy, D. M., & Berlowitz, I. (2021). Amazonian Medicine and the Psychedelic Revival: Considering the "Dieta". Frontiers in pharmacology, 12, 639124. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.639124
- ⁶⁴ Berlowitz, I., O'Shaughnessy, D. M., Heinrich, M., Wolf, U., Maake, C., & Martin-Soelch, C. (2022). Teacher plants Indigenous Peruvian-Amazonian dietary practices as a method for using psychoactives. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 286, 114910. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2021.114910
- ⁶⁵ Gearin, A. K., & Labate, B. C. (2018). "La Dieta": Ayahuasca and the Western reinvention of indigenous Amazonian food shamanism. In The Expanding World Ayahuasca Diaspora (pp. 177-198). Routledge.
- ⁶⁶ Gearin, A. K., & Labate, B. C. (2018). "La Dieta": Ayahuasca and the Western reinvention of indigenous Amazonian food shamanism. In The Expanding World Ayahuasca Diaspora (pp. 177-198). Routledge.
- ⁶⁷ Gearin, A. K., & Labate, B. C. (2018). "La Dieta": Ayahuasca and the Western reinvention of indigenous Amazonian food shamanism. In The Expanding World Ayahuasca Diaspora (pp. 177-198). Routledge.
- ⁶⁸ Dos Santos, R. G. (2013). A critical evaluation of reports associating ayahuasca with life-threatening adverse reactions. Journal of psychoactive drugs, 45(2), 179-188.
- ⁶⁹ Uthaug, M V., Mason, N L., Toennes, S W., Reckweg, J., Perna, E B D S F., Kuypers, K P C., Oorsouw, K V., Riba, J., & Ramaekers, J G. (2021, March 10). A placebo-controlled study of the effects of ayahuasca, set and setting on mental health of participants in ayahuasca group retreats. Psychopharmacology, 238(7), 1899-1910. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-021-05817-8
- ⁷⁰ Luna, L E. (1984, July 1). The healing practices of a peruvian shaman. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 11(2), 123-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8741(84)90035-7
- ⁷¹ Nižnanský, Ľ., Nižnanská, Ž., Kuruc, R., Szórádová, A., Šikuta, J., & Zummerová, A. (2022). Ayahuasca as a decoction applied to human: analytical methods, pharmacology and potential toxic effects. Journal of Clinical Medicine, 11(4), 1147.
- ⁷² Callon, C., Williams, M., & Lafrance, A. (2021). "Meeting the Medicine Halfway": Ayahuasca Ceremony Leaders' Perspectives on Preparation and Integration Practices for Participants. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/00221678211043300
- ⁷³ Riba, J., Rodríguez-Fornells, A., Urbano, G., Morte, A., Antonijoan, R M., Montero, M J M., Callaway, J C., & Barbanoj, M J. (2001, February 22). Subjective effects and tolerability of the South American psychoactive beverage Ayahuasca in healthy volunteers. Psychopharmacology, 154(1), 85-95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130000606
- ⁷⁴ David, J., Bouso, J. C., Kohek, M., Ona, G., Tadmor, N., Arnon, T., ... & Berkovich-Ohana, A. (2023). Ayahuasca-induced personal death experiences: prevalence, characteristics, and impact on attitudes toward death, life, and the environment. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 14.
- ⁷⁵ Snider, A. (2019). Addressing the mental health needs of clients who participate in ayahuasca ceremonies (Doctoral dissertation, Alliant International University).

Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page $32\ \mathrm{of}\ 35$

- ⁷⁹ Giordano Novak Rossi, Isabella Caroline da Silva Dias, Glen Baker, José Carlos Bouso Saiz, Serdar M. Dursun, Jaime E. C. Hallak & Rafael G. Dos Santos (2022) Ayahuasca, a potentially rapid acting antidepressant: focus on safety and tolerability, Expert Opinion on Drug Safety, 21:6, 789-801, DOI: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14740338.2022.2054988
- ⁸⁰ Osório, F.deL., Sanches, R. F., Macedo, L. R., Santos, R. G., Maia-de-Oliveira, J. P., Wichert-Ana, L., Araujo, D. B., Riba, J., Crippa, J. A., & Hallak, J. E. (2015). Antidepressant effects of a single dose of ayahuasca in patients with recurrent depression: a preliminary report. Revista brasileira de psiquiatria (Sao Paulo, Brazil: 1999), 37(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2014-1496
- 81 https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/suicide
- ⁸² Zeifman, R.J., Singhal, N., dos Santos, R.G. et al. Rapid and sustained decreases in suicidality following a single dose of ayahuasca among individuals with recurrent major depressive disorder: results from an open-label trial. Psychopharmacology 238, 453–459 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-020-05692-9
- https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/any-anxiety-disorder#:~:text=Prevalence%20of%20Any%20Anxiety%20Disorder%20Among%20Adults,-Based%20on%20diagnostic&text=An%20estimated%2019.1%25%20of%20U.S.,than%20for%20males%20(14.3%25).
- ⁸⁴ Jerome Sarris, Daniel Perkins, Lachlan Cribb, Violeta Schubert, Emerita Opaleye, José Carlos Bouso, Milan Scheidegger, Helena Aicher, Hana Simonova, Miroslav Horák, Nicole Leite Galvão-Coelho, David Castle, Luís Fernando Tófoli, Ayahuasca use and reported effects on depression and anxiety symptoms: An international cross-sectional study of 11,912 consumers, Journal of Affective Disorders Reports, Volume 4, 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100098
- ⁸⁵ van Oorsouw, K. I., Uthaug, M. V., Mason, N. L., Broers, N. J., & Ramaekers, J. G. (2021). Sub-acute and long-term effects of ayahuasca on mental health and well-being in healthy ceremony attendants: A replication study. Journal of Psychedelic Studies, 5(2), 103-113. https://doi.org/10.1556/2054.2021.00174
- ⁸⁶ Naranjo P. (1979). Hallucinogenic plant use and related indigenous belief systems in the Ecuadorian Amazon. Journal of ethnopharmacology, 1(2), 121–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8741(79)90003-5
- ⁸⁷ Loizaga-Velder, A., & Verres, R. (2014). Therapeutic effects of ritual ayahuasca use in the treatment of substance dependence--qualitative results. Journal of psychoactive drugs, 46(1), 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2013.873157
- ⁸⁸ Lundorff, M., Holmgren, H., Zachariae, R., Farver-Vestergaard, I., & O'Connor, M. (2017). Prevalence of prolonged grief disorder in adult bereavement: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of affective disorders, 212, 138–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.01.030
- ⁸⁹ González, D., Cantillo, J., Pérez, I. et al. Therapeutic potential of ayahuasca in grief: a prospective, observational study. Psychopharmacology 237, 1171–1182 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-019-05446-2
- 90 https://nida.nih.gov/research-topics/trends-statistics/overdose-death-rates
- ⁹¹ Rodrigues, L.S., Rossi, G.N., Rocha, J.M. et al. Effects of ayahuasca and its alkaloids on substance use disorders: an updated (2016–2020) systematic review of preclinical and human studies. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 272, 541–556 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-021-01267-7 Morski & Lowe. Ayahuasca Guide. Page 33 of 35
- © 2024 Unlimited Sciences. All rights reserved. No part of this educational guide may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of Unlimited Sciences, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law. For permission requests, please contact Unlimited Sciences at support@unlimitedsciences.org.

⁷⁶ Callon, C., Williams, M., & Lafrance, A. (2021). "Meeting the Medicine Halfway": Ayahuasca Ceremony Leaders' Perspectives on Preparation and Integration Practices for Participants. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 00221678211043300.

⁷⁷ https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/major-depression

⁷⁸ Kennedy, S. H., & Giacobbe, P. (2007). Treatment resistant depression--advances in somatic therapies. Annals of clinical psychiatry: official journal of the American Academy of Clinical Psychiatrists, 19(4), 279–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/10401230701675222

- ⁹² Perkins, D., Opaleye, E. S., Simonova, H., Bouso, J. C., Tófoli, L. F., GalvÃo-Coelho, N. L., Schubert, V., & Sarris, J. (2022). Associations between ayahuasca consumption in naturalistic settings and current alcohol and drug use: Results of a large international cross-sectional survey. Drug and alcohol review, 41(1), 265–274. https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13348
- ⁹³ Morales-Garcia, J. A., Calleja-Conde, J., Lopez-Moreno, J. A., Alonso-Gil, S., Sanz-SanCristobal, M., Riba, J., & Perez-Castillo, A. (2020). N, N-dimethyltryptamine compound found in the hallucinogenic tea ayahuasca, regulates adult neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Translational Psychiatry, 10(1), 331.
- ⁹⁴ Weiss, B., Dinh-Williams, L. L., Beller, N., Raugh, I. M., Strauss, G. P., & Campbell, W. K. (2023). Ayahuasca in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: Mixed-methods case series evaluation in military combat veterans. Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice and policy, 10.1037/tra0001625. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0001625
- ⁹⁵ Roseman, L., Ron, Y., Saca, A., Ginsberg, N., Luan, L., Karkabi, N., Doblin, R., & Carhart-Harris, R. (2021). Relational Processes in Ayahuasca Groups of Palestinians and Israelis. Frontiers in pharmacology, 12, 607529. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.607529
- ⁹⁶ Lowe, et al. (forthcoming) Long-term Benefits to Psychological Health and Well-being After Ceremonial Use of Ayahuasca in Middle Eastern and North African Immigrants and Refugees.
- ⁹⁷ Galvão-Coelho, N. L., Galvão, A. C. d. M., Almeida, R. N. d., Palhano-Fontes, F., Braga, I. C., Lobão-Soares, B., ... & Araújo, D. B. d. (2020). Changes in inflammatory biomarkers are related to the antidepressant effects of ayahuasca. Journal of Psychopharmacology, 34(10), 1125-1133. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881120936486
- ⁹⁸ Nižnanský, Ľ., Nižnanská, Ž., Kuruc, R., Szórádová, A., Šikuta, J., & Zummerová, A. (2022). Ayahuasca as a decoction applied to human: analytical methods, pharmacology and potential toxic effects. Journal of Clinical Medicine, 11(4), 1147.
- ⁹⁹ Mueller, M. J. (2023). Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics, Safety and Tolerability, and Therapeutic Potential of an Innovative Psychedelic Ayahuasca-Analogue containing N, N-Dimethyltryptamine and Harmine (Doctoral dissertation, ETH Zurich).
- ¹⁰⁰ Frison G., Favretto D., Zancanaro F., Fazzin G., Davide S. A case of b -carboline alkaloid intoxication following ingestion of Peganum harmala seed extract. Forensic Sci. Int. 2008;179:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2008.05.003.
- ¹⁰¹ Schenberg E.E., Alexandre M., Filev R., Cravo M., Muthukumaraswamy S.D. Acute Biphasic Effects of Ayahuasca. PLoS ONE. 2015;10:e0137202. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137202.
- ¹⁰² Durante Ĺ., Dos Santos R.G., Bouso J.C., Hallak J.E. Risk assessment of ayahuasca use in a religious context: Self-reported risk factors and adverse effects. Braz. J. Psychiatry. 2020;43:362–369. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2020-0913.
- ¹⁰³ dos Santos R.G., Osório F.L., Crippa J.A.S., Hallak J.E.C. Antidepressive and anxiolytic effects of ayahuasca: A systematic literature review of animal and human studies. Braz. J. Psychiatry. 2016;38:65–72. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2015-1701.
- ¹⁰⁴ Estrella-Parra E.A., Almanza-Pérez J.C., Alarcón-Aguilar F.J. Ayahuasca: Uses, Phytochemical and Biological Activities. Nat. Prod. Bioprospect. 2019;9:251–265. doi: 10.1007/s13659-019-0210-5.
- ¹⁰⁵ Jeremy. (2015, March 23). Ayahuasca Ceremony and Retreat Safety Protocols. https://templeofthewayoflight.org/setting-and-safety/ayahuasca-ceremony-safety/
- ¹⁰⁶ Riba, J., Valle, M., Urbano, G., Yritia, M., Morte, A., & Barbanoj, M. J. (2003). Human pharmacology of ayahuasca: subjective and cardiovascular effects, monoamine metabolite excretion, and pharmacokinetics. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 306(1), 73-83. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.103.049882
- ¹⁰⁷ Malcolm, B. J., & Lee, K. C. (2017). Ayahuasca: An ancient sacrament for treatment of contemporary psychiatric illness?. Mental Health Clinician, 7(1), 39-45.
- Bourzat, F. and K. Hunter, Consciousness Medicine: Indigenous Wisdom, Entheogens, and Expanded States of Vons់ខែស្រាស់ ស្រាស់ ស្រាស់ អាចស្រាស់ ប្រាស់ ស្រាស់ ស្រាស
- © 2024 Unlimited Sciences. All rights reserved. No part of this educational guide may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of Unlimited Sciences, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law. For permission requests, please contact Unlimited Sciences at support@unlimitedsciences.org.

https://www.google.com/books/edition/Consciousness_Medicine/eKltDwAAQBAJ?hl=en&gbpv=1&dq=Consciousness+Medicine:+Indigenous+Wisdom,+Entheogens,+and+Expanded+States+of+Consciousness+for+Healing+Heali

- ¹⁰⁹ Bathje, G.J., E. Majeski, and M. Kudowor, *Psychedelic integration: An analysis of the concept and its practice*. Front Psychol, 2022. 13: p. 824077. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9386447/.
- ¹¹⁰ Butler, K. and J. Moore, *Integration Workbook*. 2023, Middletown: Psychedelics Today. Available from: https://psychedelicstodayshop.com/products/integration-workbook-ebook.
- ¹¹¹ Ayahuasca's Legal Status. https://www.iceers.org/ayahuasca-legal-status/
- ¹¹² Labate, B. C. (2008). 'The Light from the Forest: The Ritual Use of Ayahuasca in Brazil'. E. J. B. das Neves Macrae (Ed.). Equinox Publishing.
- ¹¹³ Feeney, K., Labate, B.C., Hudson, J.H. (2018). Bubbling with Controversy: Legal Challenges for Ceremonial Ayahuasca Circles in the United States. In: Labate, B., Cavnar, C. (eds) Plant Medicines, Healing and Psychedelic Science. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-76720-8 6
- ¹¹⁴ Press, S. V. (2022). Ayahuasca on Trial: Biocolonialism, Biopiracy, and the Commodification of the Sacred. History of Pharmacy and Pharmaceuticals, 63(2), 328-353.